IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Jun 03 2023 05:14PM EDT Transaction ID 70134953

CHARLESTON, WEST VIRGINIA

NO. 23-129

HENRY WAYNE JOHNSTON,

Petitioner,

v.

DONALD AMES, Superintendent Mt. Olive Correctional Complex

Respondent.

Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County (22-P-219)

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Counsel For Petitioner:

Jason T. Gain (WV Bar #12353) Losh Mountain Legal Services P.O. Box 578 Anmoore, WV 26323 Phone: (304) 506-6467 Fax: (304) 715-3605 wvlawyer13@gmail.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1) The lower court erred in denying the Petitioner habeas corpus relief as his confrontation clause rights were violated at trial by permitting the alleged victim to testify while shielding herself with a computer monitor screen.
- 2) The lower court erred by failing to find that the Petitioner received ineffective assistance of counsel when his trial counsel made a deliberate choice not to view favorable pretrial discovery.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September 2015, the Petitioner, Henry Wayne Johnston was indicted by the Grand Jury of Kanawha County on fourteen (14) counts: three (3) counts of sexual assault in the first degree, two (2) counts of sexual abuse in the first degree, five (5) counts of sexual abuse by a parent, guardian and/or custodian, and four (4) counts of distribution of depictions of minor children in sexually explicit positions in case number 15-F-635. Appendix Record ("A.R.") at 3. All the physical sexual allegations were against one minor child, K.D. *Id*.

The Petitioner went to trial on November 13, 2015. Prior to the jury verdict the Court dismissed the four (4) counts related to the depiction of minor children because the State Police Forensic Analyst failed to gather and provide to the Petitioner the metadata from the pictures or other potentially exculpatory information. *Id.* at 454.

On the third day of trial, the remaining ten (10) counts of the indictment were submitted to the jury and the Petitioner was convicted of eight (8): two (2) counts of first degree sexual assault with an "under 12" enhancement, four (4) counts of sexual abuse by a parent, guardian, and/or custodian, two (2) counts of sexual abuse in the first degree, and was acquitted on one (1) count of sexual assault in the first degree and one (1) count of abuse by a parent, guardian, and/or custodian. *Id.* at 604.

On December 30, 2015, the Petitioner's post-trial motions were denied, and he was sentenced consecutively for a cumulative term of one hundred (100) to three hundred thirty (330) years of incarceration plus fifty (50) years of supervised release. *Id.* at 615.

The Petitioner appealed these convictions and sentences to this Court and all requested relief was denied. *State v. Henry W. J.*, No. 16-0088 (W.Va. Sup. Ct., January 27, 2017) (memorandum decision).

On June 14, 2022, the Petitioner, with the aid of counsel (also current counsel on appeal) filed a post-conviction Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus. A.R. at 613. In it he alleged, in relevant part, that trial counsel was ineffective for two separate reasons, first, that he did not object to permitting the minor child victim to testify while hidden behind a computer monitor, and second that he failed to view pretrial discovery which would have prevented the jury from seeing the information related to the child erotica. *Id*.

The Respondent filed an Answer, and the Petitioner replied to this Answer in accordance with the scheduling order of the lower court. *Id.* at 652; 666. An omnibus hearing was held on September 20, 2022, at which trial counsel and the Petitioner testified. *Id.* at 671.

After the parties submitted their proposed orders, on November 17, 2022, the lower court denied all relief. *Id.* at 728.

The Petitioner now comes to this Court seeking habeas corpus relief from his underlying convictions.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The confrontation clauses of the State and Federal Constitutions contain a basic right that we all have to a day in court where we meet our accusers face to face. Although this is an unfortunate and stressful situation for truthful victims, it may expose the lies of a false accuser.

In this matter, the only evidence against the Petitioner, the testimony of the alleged child victim, was taken while she was permitted by the lower court and her trial counsel to shield herself from the Petitioner behind a computer monitor¹. This was a clear violation of the Petitioner's constitutional right to a fair trial whether styled as plain error by the trial court or ineffective assistance of trial and/or appellate counsels. He should be granted a new trial where the confrontation clause is respected.

In addition, as noted above, the Petitioner was charged with possessing child erotica on his computer. These pictures were shown to the jury and after trial counsel, during the trial, found crucial foundational data missing, the lower court dismissed the child erotica counts and told the jury to disregard them. Had trial counsel paid a visit to the prosecuting attorney's office prior to trial, thereby conducting the most basic of investigations, the jury would have never seen the pictures. Although juries are generally presumed to follow instructions, it cannot be said that the dismissal and instruction was harmless in such an emotionally charged area such as child sexual abuse.

For this additional reason, the Petitioner received ineffective assistance of counsel and he should receive a new trial.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioner believes that argument under Rule 20 is appropriate as this case involves a fundamental issue regarding the right to face to face confrontation which has been guaranteed to free citizens for hundreds of years.

¹ This is not a euphemism for closed circuit testimony. The lower court and trial counsel literally permitted a piece of computer hardware in the courtroom to physically shield the witness from seeing the Petitioner.

Alternatively, argument under Rule 19 would be appropriate as it presents a unique question of law regarding the vitality of jury instructions which basically tell them to "unsee" pictures of children in stages of undress.

Given the important issues in this case, the Petitioner respectfully suggests that a memorandum decision is not appropriate.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

This Court reviews a circuit court's denial of a habeas petition under the following

standard:

In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court in a habeas corpus action, we apply a three-prong standard of review. We review the final order and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard; the underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard; and questions of law are subject to a *de novo* review.

Mathena v. Haines, Syl. Pt. 1, 633 S.E.2d 771 (W.Va. 2006).

<u>I. The lower court erred in denying the Petitioner habeas corpus relief as his confrontation</u> clause rights were violated at trial by permitting the alleged victim to testify while shielding <u>herself with a computer monitor screen.</u>

"In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with

the witnesses against him." U.S. CONST. Amend. VI; see also W.Va. CONST. Art. III §14. Sixth

Amendment confrontation has almost universally held to be the right of face-to-face

confrontation. See Coy v. Iowa, 487 U.S. 1012 (1988) (holding unconstitutional a state law

provision allowing a child accuser to testify behind a screen); State v. Murray, 375 S.E.2d 405,

412 (W.Va. 1988).

Confrontation in criminal law has been defined as the act of *setting a witness face to face with the accused* so that the latter may make any objection he has to the witness and the witness may identify the accused, and this must take place in

the presence of the court having jurisdiction to permit the privilege of crossexamination.

State ex rel. Grob v. Blair, 214 S.E.2d, 330, 334 (W.Va. 1975) (emphasis added

in *Murray*). It follows that our Court then held that:

We thus conclude, on the authority of Coy and Blair, that the right to confrontation assured by the Sixth Amendment and W.Va. Const. art. III, § 14 is violated where a witness testifies at trial and the defendant is denied the opportunity to confront the witness face-to-face.

Murray, 375 S.E.2d at 412. This idea of what confrontation entails is rather

straightforward and has been a typical part of human interaction. "Look me in the face and say

that" is a common challenge to a liar. Sir Walter Raleigh's trial, largely the source of the

confrontation clause, became famous for Raleigh's demand to the court that "let Cobham be

here, let him speak it. Call my accuser before my face...." Kenneth W. Graham, Jr., The Right

of Confrontation and the Hearsay Rule: Sir Walter Raleigh Loses Another One, 8 CRIM. L.

BULL. 99, 100 (1972).

In this case, the Petitioner was denied his right to face to face confrontation with his

accuser and in addition, the unconstitutional denial of confrontation was discussed and argued

at length throughout the trial testimony and in closing argument.

When the child was being interviewed by the Court to determine her competency, it

was held that she did not have to sit in the witness chair:

THE COURT: Okay. Now, when, when we come back here in a few minutes, we're going to have you sit in the chair there, and you're going to need to speak up; okay? Can you do that?

THE WITNESS: (Nods head up and down.) Can I sit over there?

THE COURT: Can you sit where?

THE WITNESS: Over here where I am?

THE COURT: Sure. You certainly can. And we'll figure out somehow to bring a microphone over there.

MR. HOLICKER [defense counsel]: Judge, I'm standing over here. I can't see her.

THE COURT: You're going to need to sit down. You're welcome to sit there. Or Mr. Holicker may sit over there in the corner if he wants to. You can sit anywhere you like over there, Mr. Holicker. In fact, I'll even let you stand over there, if you would like to, but not leaning against the jury post.

MR. HOLICKER: May I stand here.

THE COURT: You can. That's fine. Actually you can pull up a chair and sit down there....

•••

THE COURT: Delbert, we're going to need to figure out how to get another microphone over here. Or maybe if you just have one with a long cord, we can disconnect it --- somehow connect it up here. We'll work that out somehow.

A.R. at 148-49. In case the purpose of not sitting in the witness stand was not clear

enough from this exchange, the State confirmed its unconstitutional purpose shortly thereafter:

MR. GIGGENBACH [Prosecutor]: Judge, her, her main concern **is seeing the defendant**, and I think that's why she wants to be in the corner over there with the **monitor blocking her from seeing the defendant**. And – so I just want to bring that to the Court's attention.

THE COURT: All right, that's fine. Are you going to be able to do that?

THE BAILIFF: I'm going to try, Judge.

Id. at 150 (emphasis added). There was no objection from trial counsel to this violation

of his own client's Sixth Amendment rights. The State told the jury about this arrangement in

its opening remarks: "You'll see that she won't even be able to look at Henry Wayne Johnston,

Poppa Wayne. She'll have to sit back in that corner and have the monitor block her from

seeing him. She is so petrified to come into this courtroom and testify." Id. at 154-55.

During K.D.'s direct testimony, defense counsel could not see her and had to jockey for

position. Id. at 168, 178, 179. If counsel could not see her then it is clear that the Petitioner,

sitting beside him, could not see her.

The questioning confirmed that the view between K.D. and the Petitioner was blocked.

Id. at 176 ("And I know the monitor is blocking you right now, but can you describe his

hair?"); id. at 219 ("Q. Do you want to look at him? A. No.)

During his testimony, the Petitioner confirmed that he was unable to see K.D. testify.

Q. Okay. Well, you were sitting here when she testified; weren't you?

A. Yes, but I was facing this way.

Q. Okay. Well, when you were sitting here and she was testifying, do you remember when [K] stuck herself in the corner back there behind the monitor and couldn't look at you? Do you remember that?

A. Well, I know she couldn't look at me.

Q. Well, do you remember that?

A. Yeah.

Id. at 490; see also id. at 499 ("How about when she walked into court and testified and

hid behind the monitor?")

Not ready to leave this denial of confrontation alone, the State highlighted it in closing

arguments. Id. at 565 ("How about when in the trial she was on the witness stand --- well, you

remember how she had to hide behind the monitor?")

Trial counsel, instead of objecting, played into the game as well during his closing:

Mr. Giggenbach made a big deal out of the fact that [K] didn't want to look at Mr. Johnston in court and hid behind the monitor to avoid looking at him. He suggested that this was because he had hurt her and thus she was afraid of him. I propose that perhaps it was because she was feeling overwhelming guilt for having put him in the position he's now in. *Id.* at 584-5. The State got the final assault on the Sixth Amendment in this trial during its rebuttal argument to the jury:

[mimicking defense counsel] 'She got on the stand, and she couldn't even keep up with her lies, so she had to go behind the monitor. She couldn't, she couldn't help it. But the conspiracy theory is not our defense.'

You know why? Because when his client got on the stand, he made himself look foolish with his crazy ideas about what happened in this case.

Id. at 590. The unconstitutional testimony and the numerous mentions of it permeated

the Petitioner's trial with unfairness. Coy specifically and unequivocally prohibits placing a

barrier between a defendant and a testifying witness, even an alleged child sexual assault

victim. Coy, 487 U.S. at 1020 ("The screen at issue was specifically designed to enable the

complaining witnesses to avoid viewing appellant as they gave their testimony, and the record

indicates that it was successful in this objective... It is difficult to imagine a more obvious or

damaging violation of the defendant's right to a face-to-face encounter.") (emphasis

added).

"That face-to-face presence may, unfortunately, upset the truthful rape victim or abused child; but by the same token it may confound and undo the false accuser, or reveal the child coached by a malevolent adult." *Id.* A person may be emotionally unable to testify in the presence of a particular defendant, but:

to say that a defendant loses his right to confront a witness when that would cause the witness not to testify is rather like saying that the defendant loses his right to counsel when counsel would save him, or his right to subpoena witnesses when they would exculpate him, or his right not to give testimony against himself when that would prove him guilty.

Maryland v. Craig, 497 U.S. 836, 867 (1990) (Scalia, J, dissenting).

The Petitioner's confrontation clause rights were clearly violated, and the lower court erred by finding that they were not.

<u>a) The Petitioner should be awarded a new trial under either Plain Error or Ineffective</u> <u>Assistance of Counsel</u>

i) Plain Error

Plain error is: "(1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." *State v. Miller*, 459 S.E.2d 114, 129 (W.Va. 1995).

The plain error doctrine is on all fours of this case. This sort of "hide behind a computer monitor" testimony is fundamentally and unfairly unique in Anglo-American jurisprudence. It seriously degrades what lawyers and laypersons alike believe are the hallmarks of fair trials. The Petitioner asked the lower court to conduct a plain error analysis below and under the independent ground of "Constitutional Errors in Evidentiary Rulings.". A.R. at 628; 650. The lower court declined because it did not find error in the first instance. *See* Section I, (b), *infra*. The Petitioner respectfully requests plain error relief in the form of a new trial.

However, given the discretionary nature of plain error review, the Petitioner brings a more direct claim under ineffective assistance of trial and/or appellate counsel for failing to object to this matter in the first instance.

ii) Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

In regard to ineffective assistance of counsel, this Court has held that:

In the West Virginia courts, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are to be governed by the two-prong test established in *Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)*: (1) Counsel's performance was deficient under an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different.

Miller at Syl. Pt. 5.

The first prong of this test requires that a petitioner identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable professional judgment. The court then must determine whether, in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690. In the second prong, a defendant "must show that there is

a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to *undermine confidence* in the outcome." *Id.* at 694 (emphasis added).

Many attorneys on both sides of the issue complain that it produces unsatisfactory results as a subjective view by a judge can place an act or omission, or the determination of prejudice on either side of the line depending on his view of the underlying merits of the case. This problem can be overcome with an application of the portion of *Strickland* that is rarely cited:

Most important, in adjudicating a claim of actual ineffectiveness of counsel, a court should keep in mind that the principles we have stated do not establish mechanical rules. Although those principles should guide the process of decision, the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. In every case, the court should be concerned with whether, despite the strong presumption of reliability, **the result of the particular proceeding is unreliable because of a breakdown in the adversarial process that our system counts on to produce just results.**

Id. at 696 (emphasis added). This Court has seemingly upended prior precedent as to whether a trial attorney's actual conduct or even his testimony related to his trial conduct means anything. *State ex rel. Goodman v. Searls*, No. 20-0169 (W.Va. Sup. Ct., June 8, 2022) (signed opinion). Previously it was very important for trial counsel to "explain the motive and reason behind his or her trial behavior" and he was "the most significant witness" in ineffective assistance of counsel claims. *Miller*, 459 S.E.2d at 126. "It is apparent that we intelligently cannot determine the merits of this ineffective assistance claim without an adequate record giving trial counsel the courtesy of being able to explain his trial actions." *Id.* at 128.

The dissent argued that the Court will now construe trial counsel's strategy and decision making not from what he actually did, but from a "manufactured" retroactive analysis of what an objectively reasonable attorney *might* have done. *Goodman* at *15 (Wooton, J, dissenting).

The Petitioner believes and hopes that Justice Wooton was incorrect in his assessment of the majority opinion in *Goodman*. *Goodman* did not suggest that it was overruling Justice Cleckley's lengthy and reasoned opinion in *Miller* which has been the staple of ineffective assistance of counsel claims in this State for the last twenty-eight (28) years. Further, such a bold reversal would make any ineffective assistance of counsel claim nearly meaningless. Surely some lawyer somewhere has won a criminal case by the most idiosyncratic methods imaginable.

Most importantly, such an expansive reading of *Goodman* would ignore the fact that one trial tactic typically builds upon another. The State could always "divide and conquer" by pointing out that each step taken in isolation may have been done by some reasonable lawyer somewhere even though a particular attorney's jumbled choices have created an unimaginable mess in his or her defense of the case at hand.

The Petitioner suggests that the best reading of *Goodman* is that it is confined only to those tactical decisions which do not have "downstream" consequences and frustrate the defense theory of the case. For example, the failure to request a *Caudill* instruction in *Goodman* was a one off. The jury did not otherwise alter its perception of Mr. Goodman's case by not hearing this instruction.

In cases such as this one, where the theory of the case was actual innocence and that the alleged child victim was making up her story, the *Goodman* theory would not be appropriate.

Turning to the facts of this case, it is clear that shielding a witness from a defendant is a

constitutional violation that trial counsel failed to object to, and appellate counsel failed to raise

for plain error. Coy, 482 U.S. at 1012. This was not a tactical decision as trial counsel testified

at the omnibus hearing that it was not:

Q. Okay. Was it – now looking back –and I know your memory is not really fresh – but looking back, is it, was it your trial strategy to allow this child witness to be blocked from Mr. Johnston or yourself?

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