IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 23-129

SCA EFiled: Jul 17 2023 10:45AM EDT Transaction ID 70401528

HENRY WAYNE JOHNSTON,

Petitioner,

v.

DONALD AMES, Superintendent Mt. Olive Correctional Complex, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Kanawha County Case No. 22-P-219

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

Jason David Parmer[WVSB No. 8005] Assistant Attorney General Office of the Attorney General Appellate Division 1900 Kanawha Blvd. E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Telephone: (304) 558-5830 Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

Email: Jason.D.Parmer@wvago.gov

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner raises two arguments on appeal – both fail. First, the court properly allowed K.D. to use a computer monitor to shield her view of Petitioner when she testified at trial. The court found such an arrangement to be necessary to protect K.D.'s welfare because she was traumatized by Petitioner's presence in the courtroom, and there were adequate procedural safeguards to ensure Petitioner received a fair trial. Petitioner's attorney was not ineffective for failing to object to this arrangement because it was proper under the circumstances, and Petitioner did not prove prejudice. Second, Petitioner's counsel did not provide ineffective assistance when certain child pornography photos were shown to the jury. After these photos were displayed, the court granted Petitioner's motion to dismiss the child pornography charges (Counts 11-14) because the State did not produce a potentially exculpatory "extraction report" from Petitioner's computer. Further, the photos were stricken from evidence and the jury was instructed to disregard them.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(3) and (4), oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record. Accordingly, this case is appropriate for resolution by memorandum decision.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of review.

In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court in a habeas corpus action, we apply a three-prong standard of review. We review the final order and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard; the underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard; and questions of law are subject to a *de novo* review. Syl. Pt. 1, *Mathena v. Haines*, 219 W. Va. 417, 633 S.E.2d 771 (2006).

"Three separate levels of scrutiny apply to Confrontation Clause claims: The circuit court's order is reviewed for abuse of discretion; its factual findings are reviewed for clear error; and its legal rulings are reviewed de novo." *State v. Martin*, No-0112, 2013 WL 5676628 at*2 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Oct. 18, 2013) (memorandum decision).

"Failure to observe a constitutional right constitutes reversible error unless it can be shown that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Syl. Pt. 5, *Grob v. Blair*, 158 W. Va. 647, 214 S.E.2d 330 (1975). The doctrine of harmless constitutional error applies to a "denial of face-to-face confrontation." *Coy v. Iowa*, 487 U.S. 1012, 1021 (1988).

- B. The courtroom arrangement did not violate Petitioner's right to confrontation. 2
 - 1. Given K.D.'s upset mental state at trial, the court properly allowed her to testify behind a computer monitor that shielded her view of Petitioner.

Petitioner claims the use of a computer monitor to shield K.D.'s view of him violated his right to confrontation, and the court plainly erred when it allowed K.D. to do so. Pet'r's Br. 5-10. The Confrontation Clause generally provides Petitioner with a right to confront his accuser "face-

² Petitioner's counsel acknowledges research assistance provided on this issue by a summer law clerk for the Attorney General's Office – Matthew N. Tinor, 2L, West Virginia University College of Law.

to-face." *Coy v. Iowa*, 487 U.S. 1012, 1015 (1988). But this right is subject to exceptions that are "firmly rooted in our jurisprudence." *Id.* at 1021 (citing *Bourjaily v. United States*, 483 U.S. 171, 183 (1987)); *see State v. Murray*, 180 W. Va. 41, 48 n.3, 375 S.E.2d 405, 412 n.3 (1988) (recognizing that *Coy* may allow an exception to the Confrontation Clause "when necessary to further an important public policy."). And even if this Court finds that the monitor shielding Petitioner's view of K.D. violated his right to confrontation, this Court may affirm the jury's verdict if it finds this error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Syl. Pt. 5, *Grob*, 158 W. Va. 647, 214 S.E.2d 330; *Coy*, 487 U.S. at 1021 (holding that other types of Confrontation Clause violations are subject to constitutional harmless error analysis and there is "no reason why denial of face-to-face confrontation should not be treated the same.").

The right to confront accusatory witnesses may be satisfied absent a physical, face-to-face confrontation at trial when the denial of such confrontation is necessary to further an important public policy and where the testimony's reliability is otherwise assured. *Coy*, 498 U.S. at 1021. In a child sex abuse case such as this, a defendant's right to confront his accuser face-to-face "is not absolute and may, in appropriate cases, bow to accommodate other legitimate interests in the criminal trial process." *Maryland v. Craig*, 497 U.S. 836, 850 (1990) (citing *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 295 (1973)). The Confrontation Clause merely reflects a "preference" for face-to-face confrontation that "must occasionally give way to considerations of public policy and the necessities of the case." *Craig* at 849. In other words, face-to-face confrontation of witnesses is not "an indispensable element of the Sixth Amendment's guarantee of the right to confront one's accusers." *Id.* at 849-50. Rather, "it is all but universally assumed that there are

³ Under certain conditions, West Virginia Code § 62-6B-1 et seq. allows a child witness to testify by closed-circuit television, or the defendant may elect to absent himself from the courtroom when the child testifies. Neither of these situations occurred in the instant case.

circumstances that excuse compliance with the right of confrontation." *Id.* at 850. One of these circumstances arose in this case when the court found K.D. in an emotionally upset state at trial. App. 145-50.

States have a compelling interest in "the protection of minor victims of sex crimes from further trauma and embarrassment" and "safeguarding the physical and psychological well-being of a minor." *Craig*, 497 U.S. at 852-53 (citing *Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court of Norfolk County*, 457 U.S. 596, 607 (1982) and *Osborne v. Ohio*, 495 U.S. 103, 109 (1990)). Further, the State has a traditional and "transcendent interest in protecting the welfare of children," which is reinforced by "the growing body of academic literature documenting the psychological trauma suffered by child abuse victims who must testify in court." *Craig* at 855. Thus, "a State's interest in the physical and psychological well-being of child abuse victims may be sufficiently important to outweigh, at least in some cases, a defendant's right to face his or her accusers in court." *Craig* at 853.

The Supreme Court in *Craig* devised a three-part test that balances the Petitioner's right to confrontation with the victim's right to testify against her accuser without suffering trauma. The requisite finding of necessity is "case-specific." *Id.* First, "[t]he trial court must hear evidence and determine whether use of [a procedure other than face-to-face confrontation] is necessary to protect the welfare of the particular child witness who seeks to testify." *Craig* at 855. Second, the trial court must "find that the child witness would be traumatized, not by the courtroom generally, but by the presence of the defendant." *Craig* at 856. Third, "the trial court must find that the emotional distress suffered by the child witness in the presence of the defendant is more than *de minimis*, *i.e.*, more than mere nervousness or excitement or some reluctance to testify." *Craig* at 856; *see also State v. Davis*, 830 P.2d 1309, 1315 (Mont. 1992) (holding that a trial court made sufficient

individualized findings of trauma to child witnesses if they testified in defendant's presence; thus, placement of an opaque screen between defendant and the witnesses did not violate Confrontation Clause).

In this case, the court properly found it necessary to limit Petitioner's right to face-to-face confrontation of K.D. to protect her psychological well-being. This Court should not second-guess the trial court's finding of K.D.'s emotional trauma on the basis of a cold record with no opportunity to witness K.D.'s demeanor. See Marshall v. Lonberger, 459 U.S. 422, 434 (1983) (holding that a federal habeas court cannot "redetermine credibility of witnesses whose demeanor has been observed the state trial court, but not by them."). The court saw evidence that K.D. needed to be protected from the trauma of facing Petitioner in the courtroom. Throughout the competency colloquy with K.D., the court found that K.D. was "upset," "very shy and very delicate." App. 146, 150. Even Petitioner deduced that K.D. was emotionally upset, because she was crying when she entered the courtroom. App. 489-91. Further, Petitioner threatened to kill K.D. if she told her story. App. 211-14. K.D. was scared in the courtroom and did not want to look at Petitioner. App. 219. Given the evidence presented regarding K.D's fear of seeing Petitioner in the courtroom, it was necessary to limit Petitioner's face-to-face confrontation. It was evident to the court that K.D. needed to have some measure of security to protect her from seeing the man who threatened to kill her if she spoke against him. App. 211-14; see Craig at 850. When the court told K.D. she would need to sit in the witness chair, K.D. responded "[c]an I sit over here?" App. 148. The court agreed to bring a microphone to K.D. in the corner of the courtroom, and instructed Petitioner's counsel that he could move to a different location in the courtroom to see K.D. when she testified. App. 148-50. Considering the totality of the circumstances, there is "an adequate showing of necessity" to limit Petitioner's right to face-to-face confrontation of K.D. Craig at 855. It was evident from K.D.'s demeanor that she was traumatized by Petitioner's presence in the courtroom, and the emotional distress K.D. suffered in the presence of Petitioner was more than *de minimis*. *See id.* at 855-56.

Further, the court assured K.D.'s testimony was reliable. *See id.* at 850. The trial provided adequate safeguards to ensure that, despite the monitor blocking K.D.'s view of Petitioner, K.D.'s testimony was "both reliable and subject to rigorous adversarial testing in a manner functionally equivalent to that accorded live, in-person testimony." *Id.* at 851. The court conducted a colloquy with K.D. to establish her competence to testify. App. 145-51. When K.D. testified, her demeanor was visible to Petitioner's counsel, and she was able to identify Petitioner in court. *See Craig* at 851; App. 222-43, 250-51, 168, 178, 179. Petitioner presents no evidence that the jury was unable to observe K.D.'s demeanor. Petitioner had a fair trial and the evidence supports the trial court's limitation of Petitioner's right to face-to-face confrontation under the *Craig* factors. In sum, the court did not commit plain error when it limited Petitioner's right to confront K.D. face-to-face.

Additionally, the court properly exercised its inherent discretion when conducting Petitioner's trial. "Under Rule 611(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence [2014], the trial judge clearly has discretion to exercise reasonable control over the mode and order of [examining] witnesses and presenting evidence" if the court balances "the fairness to both parties." Syl. Pt. 3, in part, *State v. Dunn*, 237 W. Va. 155, 786 S.E.2d 174 (2016) (quoting Syl. Pt. 2, *Gable v. Kroger Co.*, 186 W. Va. 62, 410 S.E.2d 701 (1991) (internal quotations omitted)); *see People v. Rose*, 808 N.W.2d 301, 310 (Mich. Ct. App. 2010) (holding that a trial court's decision to permit eight-year-old victim to testify using one-way witness screen did not violate defendant's right to confront witnesses). In this case, the court balanced fairness to both parties by ensuring K.D.'s competence to testify, and allowing Petitioner's counsel to move in the courtroom so he could observe K.D.'s

demeanor as she testified. App. 148-50. K.D. was subjected to vigorous cross-examination by Petitioner's counsel. App. 222-43, 250-51. During cross-examination, the court allowed Petitioner's counsel to move closer to K.D. App. 223. Balancing these procedural safeguards with K.D.'s apparent fear of Petitioner, the court properly exercised its inherent discretion under Rule 611(a) when it allowed K.D. to testify behind a monitor. *See* Syl. Pt. 3, *Dunn*, 237 W. Va. 155, 786 S.E.2d 174.

To the extent that the courtroom arrangement is error, it is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See* Syl. Pt. 5, *Grob*, 158 W. Va. 647, 214 S.E.2d 330; *Coy*, 487 U.S. at 1021. An assessment of harmlessness "cannot include consideration of whether the [K.D.]'s testimony would have been unchanged, or the jury's assessment unaltered, had there been confrontation; such an inquiry would obviously involve pure speculation, and harmlessness must therefore be determined on the basis of the remaining evidence." *Coy*, 487 U.S. at 1021. Given the weight of evidence presented by the State at Petitioner's trial, which included the testimony of two experts on child sex abuse and three of K.D.'s relatives who corroborated K.D.'s testimony, any error that may have occurred is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, this court should affirm the court's order.

2. The courtroom arrangement does not constitute plain error.

Petitioner argues that it was plain error for the court to allow K.D. to testify behind a computer monitor. "To trigger application of the 'plain error' doctrine, there must be (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." Syl. Pt. 7, State v. Miller, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). As stated above, the court properly applied the Maryland v. Craig factors when it found there was an adequate showing of necessity to limit Petitioner's right to face-to-face confrontation of K.D and balanced Petitioner's interest with K.D.'s fear of testifying against

Petitioner. Further, K.D.'s testimony was reliable because she was subject to cross-examination and the trial court assured her competence to testify. *Craig* at 855. Thus, there is no error.

Even if this Court finds that there was a plain error affecting substantial rights, this Court is not obligated to correct the error unless a fundamental miscarriage of justice has occurred. *State v. David K.*, 238 W. Va. 33, 44, 792 S.E.2d 44, 55 (2016) (citing *State v. Marple*, 197 W. Va. 47, 52, 475 S.E.2d 47, 52 (1996)). Given the weight of the evidence presented by K.D. and five other witnesses at trial – including two experts on child sex abuse – the court's assurance of K.D.'s competence, and Petitioner counsel's vigorous cross-examination of K.D., a fundamental miscarriage of justice did not occur in this case. The court properly exercised its inherent authority to control trial procedure and implemented procedural safeguards that protected the fairness, integrity, and public reputation of Petitioner's trial. In sum, Petitioner is not entitled to relief after plain error analysis.

3. Petitioner was not provided ineffective assistance of counsel because his attorney failed to object to the courtroom arrangement.

Petitioner claims that his attorney's failure to object to K.D. testifying behind a monitor constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. Pet'r's Br. 10-19. Petitioner has a heavy and demanding burden in satisfying both *Strickland/Miller* prongs and it is a burden he has failed to carry.

In the West Virginia courts, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are to be governed by the two-pronged test established in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984): (1) Counsel's performance was deficient under an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different.

Syl. Pt. 5, *Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114. The *Strickland/Miller* test is conjunctive so that "[i]n deciding ineffective assistance claims, a court need not address both prongs of the conjunctive

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